2010

# Jose M. Gonzalez v. Orchard Vista, LLC, Pacificorp : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## JURISDICTION OF THE UTAH COURT OF APPEALS

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction of this appeal, pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-4-103-(2)(j) (2008).

### STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Issue 1: Whether the trial court erred in failing to grant summary judgment when it applied the Restatement (Second) of Torts § 384, which has not been adopted in Utah, and ruled that Russell Sorensen Construction, as a general contractor, “is subject to the same liability, and enjoys the same immunity from liability, as though he were the possessor of the land, for bodily harm caused to others within and without the land, while the work is in his charge, by the dangerous character of the structure or other condition.” *See*, Restatement (Second) of Torts § 384.

Preservation: This issue was preserved in Russell Sorensen Construction’s Motion for Summary Judgment, its Memorandum of Points and Authorities Supporting Russell Sorensen Construction’s Motion for Summary Judgment and Russell Sorensen Construction’s Reply Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment and at oral argument.

Standard of Review: The Court reviews the denial of summary judgment for correctness. *See, Salt Lake City v. Silver Fork Pipeline Corp.*, 913 P.2d 731, 733 (Utah 1995) (“A trial court’s decision to grant or deny a motion for summary judgment is a legal one and will be reviewed for correctness. Therefore, all issues in this case will be

reviewed *de novo*, giving no deference to the trial court's conclusions.") (internal citations omitted). Additionally the trial court's interpretation "of prior precedent, statutes, and the common law are questions of law that we review for correctness." *See, In re Estate of Ostler*, 2009 UT 82 ¶ 7.

Issue 2: Whether the trial court erred in failing to grant summary judgment by determining that the Plaintiff's Amended Complaint sufficiently alleged a premises liability claim against RSC when the Plaintiff's Amended Complaint did not allege that RSC either owned or possessed the property where the Plaintiff was injured.

Preservation: This issue was preserved in Russell Sorensen Construction's Motion for Summary Judgment, its Memorandum of Points and Authorities Supporting Russell Sorensen Construction's Motion for Summary Judgment and Russell Sorensen Construction's Reply Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment and at oral argument.

Standard of Review: The Court reviews the denial of summary judgment for correctness. *See, Silver Fork Pipeline Corp.*, 913 P.2d at 733.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### **I. Nature, Proceedings and Disposition Below.**

This case involves a personal injury claim asserted by Jose M. Gonzalez ("Gonzalez") against several Defendants, including Russell Sorenson Construction ("RSC"), Orchard Vista LLC. ("Orchard Vista"), Pacificorp, d/b/a/ Rocky Mountain

Power (“RMP”), and R.M. Rees Construction, d/b/a/ Design Stone Creations (“Rees”). On September 26, 2008, Gonzalez filed his complaint against RSC, Orchard Vista, RMP, and Rees in the Third District Court, alleging negligence and strict liability against all of the Defendants. (Record 1). On December 23, 2008, Gonzalez filed a Stipulated Motion for Leave to File Amended Complaint. (Record 95). Gonzalez filed his Amended Complaint and Jury Demand on January 22, 2009. (Record 126). RSC answered Gonzalez’ Amended Complaint on February 11, 2009. (Record 161). RSC’s Fourteenth Affirmative Defense stated: “Plaintiff’s claims are barred because Sorensen did not retain control over the injury causing aspect of the Plaintiff’s work or the work of Plaintiff’s employer.” (Record 168). RSC’s Answer further provided notice to all parties of RSC’s intent to apportion fault to Gonzalez’ employer, John Clayton Construction (hereinafter “JCC”) and specified the grounds for apportionment. (Record 169).

Following the conclusion of fact discovery and on April 9, 2010, RSC filed Russell Sorensen Construction’s Motion and Memorandum in Support for Summary Judgment as well as its supporting exhibits (hereinafter collectively, “RSC’s Motion for Summary Judgment”). (Record 759 & 618 – 768). RSC’s Motion for Summary Judgment sought a dismissal of Gonzalez’ negligence claim based upon Utah’s retained control doctrine. (Record 627 – 637). RSC’s Motion for Summary Judgment also sought a dismissal of Gonzalez’ strict liability claim as the activity at issue, *i.e.* installing soffit

and fascia, was not an “abnormally dangerous” or “ultrahazardous” activity. (Record 637 – 639).

Gonzalez filed his Memorandum in Opposition with his supporting exhibits on May 5, 2010. (Record 825 – 1004). Gonzalez’ opposition acknowledged that RSC did not retain control over the injury causing aspect of the Gonzalez’ work or the work of Gonzalez’ employer. (Record 839 – 840). Instead, Gonzalez’ Opposition attempted to re-characterize his claims against RSC as “direct negligence” claims, arising out of a “premises liability” analysis. (Record 841 – 851). Gonzalez’ direct negligence claims are, “based upon the Utah Supreme Court’s seminal opinion in *Hale v. Beckstead*, which applied premises liability negligence principles to claims by subcontractors.” (Record 826 – 827). Notwithstanding the fact that RSC did not own or possess the property at issue, Gonzalez argued that The Restatement (Second) of Torts § 384 imposed premises liability upon RSC due to RSC’s status as a general contractor. (Record 826 – 851). In his Opposition, Gonzalez acknowledged that his direct negligence claims against RSC are based upon a “premises liability” theory. (Record 826 – 827). Gonzalez did not oppose RSC’s second basis for Summary Judgment on the strict liability claim. (Record 825 – 851).

RSC filed its Reply Memorandum on May 24, 2010. (Record 1029). In its Reply RSC argued, *inter alia*:

- i. The Plaintiff failed to properly plead a “premises liability” claim against RSC as Plaintiff failed to allege that RSC owned or possessed the property.
- ii. The Plaintiff’s “premises liability” theory was raised for the first time in its opposition to a motion for summary judgment; consequently the trial court should not consider the same.
- iii. The adoption of Restatement (Second) of Torts § 384, is inconsistent with the general rule in Utah that “the employer of an independent contractor is not liable for physical harm caused to another by an act or omission of the contractor or his servants.” *Thompson v. Jess*, 979 P.2d 322 (Utah 1999), and would eviscerate the retained control doctrine.

(Record 1056 – 1067).

The trial court heard argument on RSC’s Motion for Summary Judgment on July 21, 2010. (Record 1564). During oral argument, counsel for Gonzalez again acknowledged that Gonzalez’ claims for direct negligence are solely tied to a premises liability analysis. (Record 2219 at Pg. 23 L. 9 – 20). The trial court entered a Memorandum Decision on July 30, 2010.<sup>1</sup> (Record 1585 – 1589). The trial court denied RSC’s Motion for Summary Judgment stating “In sum, the Court agrees with Plaintiff and concludes that § 384 reflects sound policy and should be applied in the instant.” (Record 1588). The trial court’s memorandum decision did not address RSC’s summary judgment argument on Gonzalez’ strict liability claim notwithstanding the fact that Gonzalez did not oppose the same in either his Opposition or during oral argument. (Record 1585 – 1589; 2219).

---

<sup>1</sup> A true and correct copy of the district court’s Memorandum Decision is attached as Addendum A.

## **II. Statement of Facts.**

1. RSC was the general contractor for a Planned Unit Development (PUD) known as the Orchard Vista P.U.D., (the "Project"). (Record 833)
2. Orchard Vista was the owner of the real property on which the Project was built and was the developer of the Project. Orchard Vista, through its engineers and surveyors, decided where to locate the buildings on the Project and was responsible for the development of the property, the building plans and "staking out" the buildings on the Project. (Record 1048 – 1051, 1070 – 1077, 1101 – 1102, 1104 – 1111)
3. RSC entered into a subcontract with R.M. Rees Construction, ("Rees") to perform certain stucco work for the Project. (Record 833-834)
4. RSC entered into a subcontract with John Clayton Construction, wherein JCC was to perform certain siding, soffit and fascia work on the Project. (Record 834)
5. Gonzalez was an employee of JCC. (Record 834)
6. RSC contracted with its subcontractors to perform specific construction related duties and services on the Project. Each subcontractor was responsible for the oversight and supervision of their workers. Additionally, each subcontractor controlled the overall method and manner concerning how the subcontractor performed its work. (Record 834)
7. On June 22, 2007, JCC sent Gonzalez and other workers to install soffit and fascia on the north wall of the fourth and final building on the Project. (Record 836)

8. JCC and its employees were the only subcontractors present and working on building four on the date of the accident. RSC was not present at the jobsite and was unaware of JCC's employees presence on the Project, on June 22, 2007. (Record 836)

9. In performing his soffit and fascia work on the north wall of building four, Gonzalez utilized scaffolding that was owned by Rees. (Record 836)

10. Prior to the accident Gonzalez did not have any discussions with Rees or RSC about whether or not it would be okay or safe to use the scaffolding. (Record 837)

11. Gonzalez climbed Rees' scaffolding with his tools and four sections of aluminum J channel material. (Record 837 – 838)

12. While on Rees' scaffolding, the Plaintiff was evidently electrically shocked when a 12 foot piece of aluminum J channel came in contact with a 7200 volt power line. (Record 838)

13. It is undisputed that apart from scheduling and coordinating Rees' work on the Project, RSC did not exercise affirmative control over the method or manner in which Rees' performed the stucco work on the Project. Additionally, it is undisputed that RSC did not exercise affirmative control over the method or manner in which Rees' erected scaffolding on the Project. (Record 838 – 839).

14. Additionally, it is undisputed that RSC did not exercise affirmative control over the method and manner in which JCC supervised its employees (including Gonzalez) or over the safety equipment JCC employees utilized when JCC performed the siding,

soffit and fascia work on the Project. Furthermore, it is undisputed that apart from scheduling and coordinating JCC's work on the Project, RSC did not exercise affirmative control over the method or manner in which JCC or Gonzalez performed the siding, soffit and fascia work on the Project. (Record 839 – 840).

15. Nowhere in Gonzalez' original Complaint or his Amended Complaint does Gonzalez allege that RSC owned or possessed the property. However, both in the original Complaint and the Amended Complaint Gonzalez correctly alleges that Orchard Vista was at all relevant times the owner and developer of the property where the Project was located. (Record 1 – 10; 126 – 134)

16. RSC was not responsible for the placement of building four and its proximity to the power lines. (Record 1048 – 1051, 1070 – 1077, 1101 – 1102, 1104 – 1111)

17. On or about April 9, 2010, RSC filed a Motion for Summary Judgment against the Plaintiff. In support of its summary judgment motion RSC argued that Utah law clearly establishes that, as the general contractor on the Project, RSC cannot be held liable for the workplace injury of a subcontractor's employee unless RSC exercised affirmative control over the injury causing aspect of the work. (Record 627 – 637).

18. In its opposition to RSC's motion for summary judgment, Gonzalez claimed that RSC was "directly negligent" as Gonzalez' claims against RSC were, in fact, "premises liability" claims. Gonzalez' "premises liability" argument was not based on



RSC's ownership or possession of the property; rather, Plaintiff argued that pursuant to the Restatement (Second) of Torts § 384, RSC, as the general contractor, is subject to the same liability as an owner of land in a premises liability case. (Record 825 – 851)

19. A hearing on RSC's motion for summary judgment was held before the honorable Joseph C. Fratto on July 21, 2010. (Record 1564).

20. For the first time at oral argument Gonzalez referenced non-binding decisions made by other Utah District Courts and offered copies of the same to this Court and counsel for RSC. Neither the Trial Court nor counsel for RSC accepted the copies offered by Gonzalez's counsel. Notwithstanding the same, on July 21, 2010, Plaintiff's counsel mailed copies of the referenced decisions to this Court ex parte. (Record 1573 – 1584)

21. On July 30, 2010, RSC formally objected to Gonzalez's counsel's attempt to submit additional argument ex parte and without leave of Court in violation of Utah R. Civ. P. 7(c)(1) and requested the Court to strike the same. (Record 1573 – 1584)

22. Notwithstanding RSC's Objection and Motion to Strike Gonzalez's Supplemental Argument, on July 30, 2010, the trial court issued a Memorandum Decision, denying RSC's Motion for Summary Judgment. In its Memorandum Decision the trial court ruled:

After reviewing the record in this matter, including consideration of plaintiff's claim of "possessor liability," which in light of Utah's liberal pleading standards, is appropriate, the Court is not persuaded summary judgment can be granted in the instant. Indeed, while no

Utah Court has explicitly adopted this section of the Restatement (Second) of Torts, such a theory of liability has not been rejected by the Courts in Utah and indeed, it has been continuously adopted in other jurisdictions. Moreover, although not binding precedent, other district courts in Utah have also been persuaded of its applicability.<sup>2</sup>

Applied to the facts of this case, the Court finds it sensible to conclude that when an owner relinquishes control of property to a general contractor, that contractor must be responsible for any conditions it creates on the property, specifically in this matter, the constructing of a building and its resulting conditions. In sum, the Court agrees with Plaintiff and concludes that § 384 reflects sound policy and should be applied in the instant.

(Record 1587 – 1588).

23. Contrary to the District Court's Memorandum Decision, Orchard Vista, not RSC, was responsible for the location and placement of building four on the Project and its proximity to the power line. Gonzalez has expressly asserted premises liability claims against Orchard Vista in his Amended Complaint and his premises liability claims against Orchard Vista are still pending. (Record 1048 – 1051, 1070 – 1077, 1101 – 1102, 1104 – 1111)

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

This Court has accepted RSC petition for interlocutory appeal to review the trial court's denial of RSC's Motion for Summary Judgment. Notwithstanding the fact that it was undisputed that RSC did not participate in or control the manner in which Gonzalez's work was performed and was not present at the Project on the day Gonzalez was injured,

---

<sup>2</sup> Copies of the District Court Opinions referenced by the trial court are provided as Addendum B.

the trial court denied RSC's Motion for Summary Judgment. In denying RSC's Motion for Summary Judgment the trial court erred in two respects.

First, the trial court erred when it applied landowner liability upon RSC based solely upon RSC's status as the general contractor for the Project. In Utah, "the general rule is that 'the employer of an independent contractor is not liable for physical harm caused to another by an act or omission of the contractor or his servants.' " *Begaye v Big D Construction*, 2008 UT 4 ¶ 8, 178 P.3d 343. (quoting, *Thompson v. Jess*, 1999 UT 22 ¶ 13). Utah law further recognizes "...that one who hires an independent contractor and does not participate in or control the manner in which the contractor's work is performed owes no duty of care concerning the safety or the manner or method of performance implemented." *Thompson v. Jess*, 1999 UT 22 ¶ 13. An exception to this general rule only arises "when an employer 'participate[s] in or control[s] the manner in which the contractor's work is performed.' " *Begaye v Big D Construction*, 2008 UT 4 ¶ 8. This exception is known as the "retained control doctrine." *Id.*

However, the trial court ruled as a matter of law that the Restatement (Second) of Torts § 384, imposed landowner liabilities upon RSC, notwithstanding the fact that Restatement § 384 has never been adopted by a Utah appellate court and is inconsistent with established Utah precedent concerning a general contractors liability and the retained control doctrine. The trial court's adoption of Restatement § 384 and the expanded and onerous duties that accompany § 384 undermine and eviscerate established Utah law. As

will be demonstrated below, the trial court's adoption of Restatement § 384 is contrary to the holdings in virtually all of Utah's retained control cases that unequivocally state that a general contractor's basic responsibility to look for and correct dangerous working conditions is not enough to make it liable under circumstances where the general contractor does not exercise control over the injury causing aspect of the subcontractor's work. *See, Magana*, 2009 UT 49 ¶ 29; *Begaye*, 2008 UT 4 ¶ 5. Indeed, here Orchard Vista, the developer and landowner is a defendant in this case and Gonzalez has pursued his premises liability claims directly against Orchard Vista from the outset of this case. Because the trial court's adoption of § 384 is inconsistent with Utah law, and because the undisputed facts below demonstrate that RSC did not actively participate in the injury causing aspect of Gonzalez' work, RSC is entitled to a reversal of the trial court's decision and the granting of summary judgment in RSC's favor.

Second, the trial court erred when it ruled that Gonzalez properly plead a premises liability claim. Gonzalez' Amended Complaint is deficient in many respects and fails to give RSC notice that Gonzalez was asserting a premises liability argument against it. Indeed, Gonzalez' complaint fails to allege that RSC owned or possessed the property at issue. In Utah, a plaintiff's failure to allege ownership or possession of the location where a hazard is located is fatal to a plaintiff's premises liability claim. *See, Hevelone v. City Market, Inc.*, 2005 Ut. App. 215, (Utah Ct. App.)(emphasis added). Moreover, Gonzalez first raised his premises liability claim in his Opposition to RSC's Motion for

Summary Judgment. Because Gonzalez' novel premises liability claim is predicated upon the adoption of Restatement § 384, which has never been adopted by a Utah appellate court, Gonzalez failed to properly plead or otherwise give notice of his premises liability claim against RSC.

Gonzalez' opposition relies upon a legal argument that has never been adopted in Utah and conflicts with firmly established Utah precedent. Indeed, Orchard Vista, not RSC was responsible for the location and placement of building four and its proximity to the power lines. Moreover, In Utah, a court will not consider a novel theory of recovery when it is raised for the first time in an opposition to a motion for summary judgment. *Asael Farr & Sons Co. v. Truck Ins. Exchange*, 2008 UTApp. 315 ¶ 19, 193 P.3d 650. Consequently, the trial court's determination that Gonzalez adequately plead a premises liability claim is in error and should be reversed by this Court.

## ARGUMENT

- I. The trial court erred in applying the Restatement of Torts (Second) § 384 to the instant case as § 384 has not been adopted by Utah appellate courts, is inconsistent with prior Utah case law, and is incompatible with Utah's general rule of non-liability.**

Utah has long established a general rule that "the employer of an independent contractor is not liable for physical harm caused to another by an act or omission of the contractor or his servants." *Thompson v. Jess*, 1999 UT 22 ¶ 13, 979 P.2d 322 (emphasis added). As will be demonstrated below, RSC is entitled to summary judgment on Gonzalez' negligence claims because it is undisputed that RSC, in its coordination and

scheduling of the Project, did not retain control over the method or manner that Gonzalez or his employer JCC performed their work. Indeed, the Plaintiff conceded that JCC employees alone determined the methods, manner and materials they used and had complete autonomy over the injury causing aspect of the work. Gonzalez argued to the trial court that RSC owed duties to Gonzalez under a premises liability theory that is contrary to established Utah law and has never been adopted by a Utah appellate court. The trial court erred in considering Gonzalez' premises liability argument and unless the trial court's order is reversed now, in the future RSC and other general contractors, will be subject to expanded legal duties and liabilities not previously recognized under Utah law and which conflict with Utah's well established retained control doctrine.

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