2010

# Jose M. Gonzalez v. Orchard Vista, LLC, Pacificorp : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court properly denied Sorensen's motion for summary judgment. Sorensen's motion was based entirely upon a contention that Gonzalez cannot meet the elements of a "retained control" claim, but that concept applies only to claims of vicarious liability, which Gonzalez is not asserting against Sorensen. Under *Magana v. Dave Roth Construction*, 2009 UT 45, 215 P.3d 143, it would have been error for the trial court to apply retained control principles to a claim of direct negligence.

The court properly concluded that Gonzalez's negligence claim is cognizable because Utah would recognize the principles of liability summarized in the *Restatement*

(*Second*) of *Torts* § 384. Under that section, a party who exercises control over premises is subject to the same duties and defenses as an owner or possessor of the premises. Defendant Sorensen admits that it exercised control over the entire job site, including the specific area in which plaintiff Gonzalez was working at the time of the incident. Under Utah law, workers such as Gonzalez are business invitees, and thus Sorensen owed Gonzalez a duty not to create, or permit to remain, unreasonably dangerous conditions on the site.

Sorensen's arguments against application of Section 384 are unavailing. Courts and commentators widely recognize Section 384's adoption. Further, a number of courts (including the Utah Supreme Court) have applied premises liability principles to general contractors without expressly invoking Section 384.

Premises liability is not inconsistent with the general rule of non-liability for the negligence of independent contractors; in fact, Sorensen admits that landowners are subject to both the same general rule of non-liability and premises liability. Public policy is not served by subjecting potentially distant or ignorant landowners to liability for hazards created or tolerated by general contractors on site.

The duties applicable under Section 384 are only the basic reasonableness requirements set forth in *Restatement* §§ 343-343A and surrounding sections. Contrary to Sorensen's assertions, Gonzalez does not assert any duty by a general contractor to supervise the method or manner of subcontractors' work, or to remedy "all known or knowable" dangers, or with respect to risks inherent in the work itself. The Utah Supreme Court has properly concluded that no such duties should be imposed. But



encountering live power lines unreasonably close to a work area has nothing to do with the method or manner of installing soffit, and was not inherent in Gonzalez's work – indeed, all subcontractors working in the area were exposed to the same hazard.

Applying premises liability principles to Gonzalez's claim, the trial court correctly found issues of fact precluding summary judgment. Gonzalez adduced evidence that Sorensen created the dangerous condition (erecting Building No. 4 too close to live wires), and/or allowed the condition to remain unabated for more than a year, knowing that workers were being exposed to it.

Finally, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in concluding that Sorensen was sufficiently on notice of Gonzalez's claim. Although Sorensen accuses Gonzalez of "recharacterizing" his claim from retained control to premises liability, there is no retained control / vicarious liability claim in the complaint to begin with. The complaint plainly states that Gonzalez's negligence claims are based upon "hazards . . . on the Property," a classic premises liability claim. Although Sorensen argues that Gonzalez should have alleged that Sorensen was an owner or possessor of the land, that would have been erroneous: Under Section 384, the contractor is not transformed into an owner or possessor, but rather is subject to the same duties and defenses as those persons.

The factual predicate of Gonzalez's claim has never varied: Over the ensuing two years, 14 liability depositions have been taken (including that of Sorensen's principal), all of which focused on the creation, maintenance, and knowledge of the hazardous condition. In construing the complaint and surrounding circumstances liberally, as required by Utah Supreme Court precedent, the trial court did not abuse its discretion.

## ARGUMENT

### I. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY FOUND ISSUES OF FACT ON GONZALEZ'S NEGLIGENCE CLAIM AGAINST SORENSEN.

#### A. Plaintiff's direct negligence claims are not subject to "retained control" principles, which apply only to claims of vicarious liability.

The sole argument raised in defendant Sorensen's motion for summary judgment was that plaintiff Gonzalez could not meet the elements of a claim under *Restatement (Second) of Torts* §§ 409 and 414 (1965), the "retained control" doctrine. See *Thompson v. Jess*, 1999 UT 22, 979 P.2d 322. Gonzalez had no dispute with that proposition – because he is not asserting a retained control claim.

The retained control doctrine only has application to claims of vicarious liability; it is irrelevant to claims that a defendant was itself negligent. The Utah Supreme Court reiterated this basic distinction in *Magana v. Dave Roth Construction*, 2009 UT 45, 215 P.3d 143. In *Magana*, the trial court and this Court both ruled that a worker's claims against a general contractor were barred because the plaintiff could not show retained control under *Thompson*, even though the plaintiff was also asserting a separate negligence claim against the defendant. The Supreme Court reversed.

In a section titled "THE RETAINED CONTROL DOCTRINE DOES NOT IMMUNIZE A CONTRACTOR FROM ITS OWN NEGLIGENT ACTS," the Supreme Court held that this Court's affirmance of summary judgment was error "because it only considered Magana's negligence claim under the retained control doctrine. The court

failed to separately consider Magana's claim under the direct negligence theory that Magana also advanced." *Id.* ¶ 36. The court explained:

The retained control doctrine is separate and distinct from a direct negligence theory. Specifically, the retained control doctrine does not apply when a plaintiff alleges that an employer's own actions were negligent. Rather, the doctrine is limited to circumstances where the plaintiff alleges that the employer of a contractor is liable for the *contractor's negligence* because the employer retained sufficient control over the contractor's actions to owe the plaintiff a duty of care regarding the contractor's actions.

*Id.* ¶ 37 (emphasis in original).

Reinforcing this distinction, the *Magana* court quoted from *Thompson*, 1999 UT 22, ¶ 13 ("[T]he employer of an independent contractor is not liable for physical harm caused to another *by an act or omission of the contractor* or his servants.") (emphasis by Supreme Court), and W. Page Keeton et al., PROSSER AND KEETON ON THE LAW OF TORTS 510 (1984) ("Quite apart from any question of vicarious responsibility, the employer may be liable for any negligence of his own in connection with the work to be done."). *Id.* ¶ 37 n. 30-31.

In this case, Gonzalez does not seek to hold Sorensen liable for the negligence of another contractor. To the contrary: Gonzalez seeks to hold Sorensen liable for the negligence of Sorensen. The retained control doctrine is thus immaterial to the claim.

**B. The trial court correctly found issues of fact regarding Sorensen's breach of duty under *Restatement* § 384.**

To prevail on a claim for negligence, a plaintiff must prove four elements: duty, breach, causation, and damages. *Braithwaite v. W. Valley City Corp.*, 921 P.2d 997, 999 (Utah 1996). The existence of a duty is generally a question of law, subject to subsidiary

issues of fact. *AMS Salt Indus., Inc. v. Magnesium Corp. of Am.*, 942 P.2d 315, 319-20 (Utah 1997).

In its motion for summary judgment, Sorensen essentially argued that it owed no duty to Gonzalez because Sorensen did not control the manner or method of Gonzalez's work, which would be one source of a duty recognized by the *Restatement*. In so arguing, however, Sorensen's argument overlooked other sources of duty.

Premises liability is a form of negligence (in other words, one potential source of duty). *Hale v. Beckstead*, 2005 UT 24, ¶ 4, 116 P.3d 263; *Carlile v. Wal-Mart*, 2002 UT App 412, ¶ 8, 61 P.3d 287. In Utah, workers who come to make alterations or repairs are business invitees, and are thus owed certain duties while on the premises. *Hale*, 2005 UT 24, ¶ 33. See pp. 27-28, *infra* (summarizing duties recognized in *Hale*).

Claims for breach of such duties are most often brought against the "owner" or "possessor" of the premises. In some instances, however, an owner or possessor permits (or hires) someone else to take charge of the premises. In this case, owner Orchard Vista hired general contractor Sorensen. Sorensen acknowledges – indeed, affirmatively declares – that it exercised full control over the entire site, including Building No. 4 where Gonzalez was working. See p. 8, *supra* (alleging that Clayton's workers were trespassers because they were on the premises without Sorensen's permission).

When a general contractor exercises control over premises, courts "overwhelming[ly]" hold that it has the same duties, and the same defenses, as an owner or possessor. See Richard L. Ferrell III, EMERGING TRENDS IN PREMISES LIABILITY LAW: OHIO'S LATEST MODIFICATION CONTINUES TO CHIP AWAY AT BEDROCK

PRINCIPLES, 21 OHIO N.U. L. REV. 1121, 1141 (1995) (“... [T]he overwhelming weight of authority across the country establish[es] that an independent contractor is subject to the same liabilities and clothed with the same rights as the landowner” [footnote omitted].) Those duties and defenses are, in general, summarized in the *Restatement (Second) of Torts* §§ 343-343A and surrounding sections. See, e.g., §§ 341A, 343 (duty owed to invitees), § 337 (duty owed to trespassers).

This principle is summarized in *Restatement* § 384, titled “Liability of Persons Creating Artificial Conditions on Land on Behalf of Possessor for Physical Harm Caused While Work Remains in Their Charge,” which states:

One who on behalf of the possessor of land erects a structure or creates any other condition on the land is subject to the same liability, and enjoys the same freedom from liability, as though he were the possessor of the land, for physical harm caused to others upon and outside of the land by the dangerous character of the structure or other condition while the work is in his charge.<sup>4</sup>

Comment g explains when these duties arise and terminate:

The rule stated in this Section applies to determine the liability of one who is entrusted by the possessor of land with the erection of a structure or the creation of any other physical condition on the land, for only such bodily harm as is caused while he remains in charge and control of the erection or creation of the structure or condition. It does not apply to determine his liability for harm caused after his charge and control of the work and his privilege to be upon the land for the purpose of accomplishing it is terminated in any manner. His charge and control is usually terminated by the possessor's acceptance of the completed work, but it may be terminated in a variety of other ways. For example, the possessor may, in pursuance or

---

<sup>4</sup> A similar provision has been proposed in the Tentative Draft of *Restatement (Third) of Torts: Phys. & Emot. Harm*. Under the proposed draft, which has not yet been cited by any courts, application of premises liability duties to contractors is expressed by the latter's inclusion in the definition of “possessor.” See § 49 (T.D. No. 6, 2009), Possessor Of Land Defined, cmts a, e, and f.

in violation of his contract, take the work out of the hands of the independent contractor before it is completed or may order a servant to stop the work entrusted to him. . . .

As noted above, there is no dispute that Russell Sorensen exercised control over the entire premises, including the area in which Gonzalez was injured. The only issue, therefore, is whether Utah would join the majority of jurisdictions in adopting § 384. Sorensen correctly notes that the Utah Supreme Court has not yet done so. Notably, however, the court has applied premises liability duties to general contractors. *Kessler v. Mortenson*, 2000 UT 95, ¶¶ 3, 9-10, 17, 16 P.3d 1225 (reversing orders granting summary judgment and allowing attractive nuisance claims against both landowner and contractor under *Restatement* § 339).

Sorensen argues that, because a contractor generally is not liable for the negligence of an independent contractor, it would be inconsistent to allow a claim against it under § 384. Sorensen's argument fails in several respects. First, to what negligence by another contractor is Sorensen referring? It was Sorensen who allowed the building to be constructed too close to the power lines, and who knew that various individuals would have to work on the north side of Building No. 4. If Sorensen feels that the negligence of Gonzalez or Clayton, or one of its co-defendants, was exclusively the cause of the accident, it certainly has not shown so as a matter of law, as required to obtain summary judgment. *See also Hale, supra* (alleged comparative negligence by the worker is for the jury, not a bar to suit).<sup>5</sup>

---

<sup>5</sup> Under § 384, a subcontractor may also owe duties if it exercises control over a site. *See* Cmt. d. How the Utah Supreme Court would deal with co- or joint liability under this

Sorensen's argument also overlooks the fact that landowners, like contractors, are not typically responsible for the negligence of independent contractors, yet premises liability remains a separate, viable theory against such owners. (See Brief of Appellant, p. 16, citing *Hale*; see also *Price v. Smith's Food and Drug Centers, Inc.*, 2011 UT App 66, ¶ 26, --- P.3d --- ("Generally, an employer is not liable to third persons for the torts of an independent contractor. . . . 'One exception is that [the] owner of the premises . . . [has] a nondelegable duty to keep the premises reasonably safe for business invitees'" [citations omitted].).

Sorensen's argument would thus produce the ironic result that a distant or ignorant landowner could be liable to worker-invitees for hazardous conditions on the property, but not the general contractor who created the conditions or knowingly permitted them to remain. No public purpose would be served by such a result. As the Utah Supreme Court observed in *Kessler*, a contractor is in the best position to assess and remedy dangerous conditions on site. 2000 UT 95, ¶ 10 ("Given the rapidly changing nature of a residential construction project, the homebuilder is in the best position to recognize hazards and to protect children from the danger.").

Other arguments by Sorensen against the adoption of § 384 appear to misapprehend the nature of the duty argued by Gonzalez and recognized by the trial court. Accordingly, it seems useful to clarify what that duty does – and does not – entail:

---

section is not at issue in the appeal. In any event, Sorensen has taken the position in this case that it exercised exclusive control over the site on the day of the accident, alleging that it had "closed" the site to "all subcontractors" that day. (R. 656.)

1. No duty to supervise method or manner of work performance.

Gonzalez does not contend that Sorensen has a duty to supervise or exercise control over the method or manner by which its subcontractors perform their work, as Sorensen suggests. (*See* Brief of Appellant, pp. 19, 29-30.) The Utah Supreme Court has already held otherwise. *Thompson v. Jess, supra*. Gonzalez's injury had nothing to do with the method or manner in which soffit is installed – Gonzalez did not injure himself by using a nail gun improperly, for example. Rather, the injury arose from a hazardous condition on the premises to which anyone working in the area would be exposed.

The Tenth Circuit (applying Utah law) recognized this basic distinction in *Titan Steel Corp. v. Walton*, 365 F.2d 542 (10th Cir. 1966). In that case, suit was brought against a general contractor and owner for the death of a subcontractor's employee. The general contractor challenged the trial court's instruction of the jury as to the duties owed by it to the worker under *Restatement* § 343, the Tenth Circuit affirmed, stating:

As applied to a general contractor in control of a structure or premises upon which work is being done, the rule is that such contractor is liable to an employee of another contractor rightfully using any portion of the premises for negligence in failing to keep it in a safe condition and to give warning of latent or concealed perils. This rule is not inconsistent nor incompatible with the general rule of non-liability of a general contractor for torts of an independent contractor. . . . As Judge Warren L. Jones put it, "*there is a distinction between an unsafe condition incident to or resulting from the work to be done and an unsafe condition inhering in the premises where it is to be done.*"

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